# **Desalination and Advanced Water Treatment**

Vidya Spriha Kujur 1\*, Tarun Kumar Dhiman 2\*, Roshini Sharma 3, Rahul Kumar 4

<sup>1</sup> Center for Nanotechnology, Central University of Jharkhand

<sup>2</sup> University School of Basic and Applied Sciences, Guru Gobind Singh Indraprastha University

<sup>3</sup> Department of Chemistry, Aligarh Muslim University

<sup>4</sup> School of Physical Science, Jawaharlal Nehru University

# Author's ORCID Id

Vidya Spriha Kujur (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9315-6703)

Tarun Kumar Dhiman (https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0006-7267)

Roshini Sharma (https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0659-6218)

Rahul Kumar (https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7234-832X)

# Contents

I. I	Introduction to Desalination and Advanced Water Treatment	2
a.	The growing global water scarcity challenge	2
b.	Role of desalination and advanced treatment in water supply	2
II. F	Principles of Desalination	2
E	Environmental considerations and challenges:	3
III.	Membrane-Based Desalination Technologies	4
a.	Reverse Osmosis (RO) Technology	4
b.	Nanofiltration (NF) and ultrafiltration (UF) processes	5
c.	Forward osmosis (FO) and pressure-retarded osmosis (PRO)	5
d.	Electrodialysis and capacitive deionization:	6
IV.	Thermal Desalination Processes	7
V. E	Emerging and Innovative Desalination Techniques	9
VI.	Pre-Treatment and Post-Treatment Strategies	11
VII.	Future Prospects and Research Directions	13
VIII.	Conclusion	15
IX	References	16

## I. Introduction to Desalination and Advanced Water Treatment

## a. The growing global water scarcity challenge

The growing global water scarcity challenge stands as a pressing and complex issue that transcends borders and affects populations across the world. As demand for freshwater rises due to population growth, urbanization, and industrialization, coupled with the impacts of climate change altering precipitation patterns and exacerbating droughts, many regions find themselves grappling with diminishing water resources. This challenge not only threatens access to clean drinking water for billions but also jeopardizes agricultural productivity, ecosystem health, and economic stability. Urgent and concerted efforts are required to implement sustainable water management practices, enhance water conservation measures, promote efficient irrigation techniques, and invest in innovative technologies to desalinate and recycle water. Addressing this challenge demands a global commitment to prioritize water resource management, foster international cooperation, and ensure equitable distribution, safeguarding one of humanity's most vital and finite resources for current and future generations. [1, 2, 3]

#### b. Role of desalination and advanced treatment in water supply

The role of desalination and advanced treatment methods in water supply has become increasingly significant in the face of growing water scarcity challenges. Desalination, the process of removing salt and impurities from seawater or brackish water, offers a viable solution to augment freshwater resources in regions where traditional sources are under strain. Through techniques like reverse osmosis and distillation, desalination plants produce clean, potable water that can contribute to drinking water supplies, industrial processes, and agricultural irrigation. [4]

In addition, advanced treatment technology plays an important role in improving water quality and safety. These methods include complex filtration, oxidation, and disinfection processes to remove contaminants, pathogens, and pollutants from surface and groundwater sources. By using techniques such as membrane filtration, ultraviolet (UV) sterilization and activated carbon adsorption, advanced treatment systems can significantly improve water quality, ensuring that water standards are met. Strict hygiene and environmental standards. While desalination and advanced treatment offer promising solutions, it is important to recognize some of the challenges. Desalination can be energy intensive and can have an environmental impact if not managed properly, such as the disposal of brine by-products. In addition, advanced process systems require skilled operation and maintenance skills to maintain their efficiency. In the face of increasing water scarcity and declining water quality, the role of advanced desalination and treatment cannot be denied. However, a balanced approach is needed, combining these technologies with a comprehensive water management strategy, conservation efforts, and sustainability policies to ensure a reliable, equitable water supply. And resilient for present and future generations.

## II. Principles of Desalination

Desalination processes are important techniques that play an important role in alleviating water scarcity by turning seawater or brackish water into fresh water suitable for a variety of applications. The two main types of desalination methods are the distillation method and the membrane method, each with distinct mechanisms and advantages. [5, 6]

Distillation:

Distillation is a traditional desalination process that simulates the natural water cycle. It involves heating brine to produce steam, which is then condensed into a liquid form, leaving salt and impurities behind. There are two main distillation methods:

<u>Multistage Flash (MSF)</u>: During MSF distillation, seawater is heated in several stages under reduced pressure. As the water evaporates, it condenses into fresh water, while the remaining concentrated brine is separated. MSF is an energy-intensive company known for its efficiency and large-scale production capabilities.

<u>Multi-action distillation (MED)</u>: MED is another distillation process that uses multiple chambers with gradually decreasing pressure. Sea water heated in each compartment releases steam that heats the next compartment. This cascading effect improves energy efficiency compared to MSF.

\*Membrane-Based Methods:\*

Membrane-based desalination uses a semi-permeable membrane to separate salts and impurities from water. These methods are generally more energy efficient than distillation and are widely used. [6] The two main membrane methods are:

Reverse Osmosis (RO): In RO, water is pushed through the membrane under pressure, allowing water molecules to pass through while retaining salts and contaminants. This process produces fresh water on one side of the membrane and a concentrated stream of brine on the other. RO is widely used due to its energy efficiency and relatively simple operation. [8]

Electrodialysis (ED) and Electrolyte Reversal (EDR):

ED and EDR involve passing seawater through alternating ion-exchange membranes, creating an electric field that directs ions to electrodes of opposite charge. This separation gives rise to freshwater and saltwater flows.

Although less common than RO, ED and EDR are useful in specific applications. Each desalination process has its advantages and challenges. The distillation methods are powerful but energy-intensive, making them suitable for large-scale applications where energy costs can be controlled. Membrane-based methods, especially RO, are more energy efficient and adaptable to scales ranging from small community systems to industrial facilities. To effectively address the global challenge of water scarcity, a combination of distillation and membrane filtration, along with sustainable practices, effective technology and careful management is essential set. [8] *Thermodynamics and energy requirements:* 

Thermodynamic and energy requirements play an important role in desalination processes, influencing their efficiency, feasibility and environmental impact. Desalination involves the conversion of salt water to fresh water by overcoming osmotic pressure, which requires the supply of energy. The amount of energy required varies depending on the specific desalination method used. [9-11]

<u>Thermodynamics of desalination:</u> The driving force of desalination is the difference in chemical potential (concentration) between the saline feedwater (sea or brackish water) and the desired freshwater product. This potential difference is quantified by the osmotic pressure, which must be exceeded to separate salts and impurities from the water.

Energy Requirements: Desalination requires energy to overcome osmotic pressure, maintain separation, and produce fresh water. Required energy is usually expressed as specific energy consumption (SEC), usually measured in kilowatt hours per cubic meter  $(kWh/m^3)$  of fresh water produced. Several factors affect the energy requirements for desalination:

<u>Desalination method:</u> Different methods have different energy requirements. Distillation methods (rapid multi-stage distillation and multi-action distillation) typically have higher energy requirements due to the amount of heat input required for evaporation and condensation. Membrane methods (reverse osmosis, electrolysis) generally have lower energy requirements.

<u>Conditions of salinity and water supply:</u> Higher salinity and more impurities in feedwater require more energy to overcome osmotic pressure and membrane blockage.

Operating parameters: Process temperature, pressure, recovery rate (how much fresh water is produced from the feed water) and flow rate all affect energy consumption. Higher recovery rates can lead to higher fuel efficiency but can also increase the risk of blockages.

<u>Membrane Performance:</u> Congestion, deposition and membrane degradation can increase energy consumption by reducing system performance and requiring additional maintenance.

<u>Pretreatment:</u> Effective pretreatment to remove particles, organic matter and dirt is essential to maintaining energy efficiency by reducing deposits and residues.

Energy Recovery and Sustainability:

As desalination technology advances, efforts are being made to reduce energy consumption through innovations such as energy capture devices (ERDs) that capture and reuse energy from the brine stream. Integrated approaches that combine desalination with renewable energy sources such as solar or wind energy can further improve sustainability and reduce the environmental impact of energy consumption.

Understanding the thermodynamic and energy requirements of desalination is critical to maximize efficiency, minimize operating costs, and make informed decisions about the selection and desalination system design. As global water scarcity continues to challenge communities around the world, improving energy efficiency and exploring sustainable energy sources are essential to ensure long-term viability of desalination as a solution.

Environmental considerations and challenges:

Desalination is an essential tool to address water scarcity, but it also presents a number of environmental considerations and challenges that require careful management to ensure sustainable water supply solutions. Some important environmental aspects to consider include:

<u>Salt water treatment:</u> The desalination process produces a concentrated brine by product that contains high levels of salt and other impurities. Improper disposal of brine can harm marine ecosystems by altering the salinity of local waters, affecting marine life and damaging sensitive habitats. Effective brine management strategies, such as dilution, diffusion or the use of drainage to disperse brine over a wide area, are essential to minimize environmental impact.

<u>Energy consumption:</u> The energy requirements of desalination can be very large, especially in thermal methods. If energy comes from fossil fuels, it could contribute to greenhouse gas emissions and climate change. Integrating renewable energy sources, such as solar or wind energy, can mitigate this impact and improve the sustainability of desalination operations.

Absorb marine life: Open water intake systems used to draw seawater to desalination plants can inadvertently entrain and harm marine life, including fish larvae and plankton. Proper intake design and the use of fine mesh screens can help reduce this environmental impact.

<u>Chemical use:</u> Desalination plants often require chemicals for pre-treatment, cleaning and disinfection. Improper handling or disposal of these chemicals can lead to water pollution and harm to aquatic life. Implementing best practices for handling, storing, and disposing of chemicals is critical to minimizing these risks.

<u>Impacts on habitats and shorelines:</u> The construction and operation of desalination plants can alter the landscape and local coastal habitats. Site and design considerations should take into account potential impacts on coastal ecosystems, including beach erosion, disruption of sediment transport and disruption of marine life.

<u>Carbon emissions</u>: In addition to direct energy consumption, the entire life cycle of the desalination process, including construction, maintenance and disposal, contributes to carbon emissions. A comprehensive environmental impact assessment, including carbon emissions, will guide decision-making and inform efforts to reduce overall emissions.

Allocate costs and resources: Desalination projects can divert financial and human resources away from other sustainable water management solutions, such as water conservation, efficiency improvement, and ecosystem-based approaches. Finding a balance between desalination and other strategies is essential for holistic water resource management.

To meet these environmental challenges, it is important to implement best practices and technologies that minimize negative impacts. This includes incorporating advanced treatment methods to reduce brine concentrations, optimizing energy efficiency through innovative technologies and integrating renewable energy, meeting stringent regulations. Environmental performance, achieve a thorough environmental impact assessment prior to project initiation, and promote research and development to continuously improve the environmental performance of desalination. As desalination continues to play a role in water supply security, a holistic and environmentally friendly approach is essential for its long-term sustainability.

## III. Membrane-Based Desalination Technologies

Membrane desalination technology represents a key innovation in the search for sustainable freshwater solutions. At the forefront of these methods is reverse osmosis (RO), a process that uses a semi-permeable membrane to separate salts and impurities from water under pressure, resulting in high-quality fresh water. RO's efficiency and adaptability have made it a cornerstone in the fight against global water scarcity, with applications ranging from small-scale community systems to large industrial facilities. Additionally, electrolysis (ED) and reverse electrolysis (EDR) are promising alternatives, using ion exchange membranes and electric fields to separate ions and generate fresh water flow. These membrane-based techniques offer compelling advantages, including energy efficiency, reduced environmental impact compared to thermal methods, and modular scalability. By continuously improving membrane materials, system design and water harvesting techniques, transmembrane desalination technology makes a significant contribution to ensuring a reliable, accessible and sustainable source of fresh water for communities, different populations and industries around the world.

## a. Reverse Osmosis (RO) Technology

Reverse osmosis (RO) technology is a highly efficient and widely used membrane desalination process that plays an important role in the production of fresh water from salt water sources. It works on the principle of selectively allowing water molecules to pass through a semi-permeable membrane while preventing the passage of dissolved salts and impurities. This process is promoted by pressurizing the brine, which counteracts the natural osmotic pressure and allows the purified water to separate from the brine.

Membrane Structure: RO membranes typically consist of thin, dense sheets or spirally wound modules made from composites such as polyamide composites or thin films. These membranes have microscopic pores that allow water molecules to pass through while also removing dissolved salts, minerals, and other contaminants. [14-16]

Process Steps:

<u>Pre-treatment:</u> Before entering the RO system, the feed water must undergo pre-treatment to remove larger particles, sediment, and organic matter that can clog or damage the membrane.

<u>Pressurized:</u> The treated brine or feed water is pressurized by a pump to overcome the osmotic pressure and push water molecules across the membrane.

Osmotic flux and concentration: Pressurized water is divided into two streams, permeable (clean, desalted water that passes through the membrane) and concentrated water or brine (a concentrated saline solution that does not pass through the membrane).

<u>Collect and process:</u> The seepage water is collected as fresh water suitable for a variety of uses, while the concentrate is mixed with other streams, further concentrated or released into the environment responsibly.

<u>Energy Efficiency:</u> Compared to thermal desalination methods such as rapid multi-stage distillation or multi-action distillation, RO is generally more energy efficient. The energy demand comes mainly from the pressure required to push the water across the membrane.

Applications:

RO technology is widely used for producing drinking water for communities and industries. It is also used for treatment of groundwater and saline wastewater for reuse. It helps in supply of process water for industrial processes such as power generation, pharmaceutical and electronic manufacturing and supply fresh water on ships and remote areas.

Challenges and considerations:

RO membranes are susceptible to fouling, scaling and damage from certain chemicals, so proper pretreatment and monitoring are important. Disposal and management of concentrates requires special attention to minimize environmental impact. High salinity and extreme water conditions can affect RO performance and membrane life.

Progress:

The ongoing research is focused on improving the efficiency, durability, and materials of RO membranes. Innovations include energy harvesting devices, advanced membrane coatings and a hybrid system that integrates reverse osmosis with other desalination technologies.

Reverse osmosis has revolutionized water desalination and treatment, providing a reliable and efficient method to meet the challenges of water scarcity. Its flexibility, efficiency and potential for sustainable integration with renewable energy sources contribute significantly to securing fresh water for different populations and industries around the world.

## b. Nanofiltration (NF) and ultrafiltration (UF) processes

Nanofiltration (NF) and ultrafiltration (UF) are membrane separation processes used to treat, filter, and concentrate water. While these methods are similar to reverse osmosis (RO) in terms of the use of semi-permeable membranes, they differ in the particle sizes they can effectively remove and the most suitable applications. [17-21]

 $Ultrafiltration\ (UF)$ :

Ultrafiltration is a membrane separation process that targets particles and molecules larger than those removed by the RO membrane. UF membranes have larger pores and are effective in removing colloidal particles, suspended solids, bacteria, viruses and macromolecules from water. This process operates at a lower pressure than RO and is commonly used for pre-treatment in desalination, drinking water purification, wastewater treatment processes and as a step in the production of high pressure water, ensuring purity for industries such as electronics and pharmaceuticals. Ultrafiltration provides efficient particle removal and helps reduce clogging in further processes.

Nanofiltration (NF):

**Process Similarities:** 

Nanofiltration is an intermediate process between ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis. NF membranes have smaller pores than UF membranes but larger pores than RO membranes. Therefore, NF is effective in removing divalent ions (such as calcium, magnesium and sulphate) as well as larger molecules, organic matter and some polyvalent ions while giving monovalent ions and water molecules pass through. NF is commonly used for water softening, color and odor removal, partial desalination, and treatment of moderately saline water. It is also used in industrial processes such as food and beverage production and some wastewater treatment.

Both UF and NF share similarities in terms of process steps and membrane materials:

<u>Pre-treatment:</u> Similar to RO, effective pre-treatment is critical to avoid damaging and damaging the membrane

Pressure: Both processes operate at a lower pressure than RO.

Applications: UF and NF are used in various industries and applications to treat, filter and concentrate water.

<u>Benefits:</u> UF and NF can be more energy efficient than RO, especially in cases where complete desalination is not required. They are effective at removing specific contaminants while allowing water and essential ions to pass through.

<u>Considerations</u>: Proper pre-treatment is essential to prevent membrane clogging and prolong membrane life. The choice of membrane is very important to match the desired separation target and water chemistry. The handling of concentrates needs to be managed to minimize the impact on the environment. In conclusion, ultrafiltration (UF) and nanofiltration (NF) processes play an important role in water treatment and purification, meeting different separation needs based on particle size and solute properties. These membrane-based technologies are versatile tools that contribute to the improvement of water quality, environmental protection and the sustainability of water resources in various applications and industries.

# c. Forward osmosis (FO) and pressure-retarded osmosis (PRO)

Forward Osmosis (FO):

Forward osmosis (FO) is a membrane separation process that exploits the natural osmotic potential difference between two solutions to separate water from a less concentrated solution (food solution) to a more

concentrated solution (food solution such as absorbed food) through a semi-permeable membrane. Unlike reverse osmosis (RO), which requires external pressure to force water across the membrane against its natural flow, RO relies on an osmotic gradient to control the movement of water. It include:

<u>Process Steps:</u> The feed solution (typically water to be treated) and draw solution (a concentrated solution) are separated by a semi-permeable membrane. Water molecules move from the feed solution to the draw solution due to the difference in osmotic pressure. The draw solution becomes diluted as water enters, and the diluted draw solution is then separated from the concentrated feed solution

<u>Processing steps:</u> The feed solution (usually water to be treated) and the diluent (concentrated solution) are separated by a semi-permeable membrane. Water molecules move from the supply solution to the dissolved solution due to the difference in osmotic pressure. The diluent when water enters and the diluent is then separated from the concentrated feed solution. Applications: FO has potential applications in water treatment, particularly as concentrated or dewatering solutions, including industrial wastewater, food processing lines and wastewater. FO can be used in desalination processes, where the drained solution has a higher salinity than seawater, facilitating the extraction of fresh water from salt water.

<u>Benefits:</u> FO can operate at a lower pressure than RO, potentially reducing power consumption. FO can use low-cost extraction solutions, such as ammonium bicarbonate, which can be regenerated for reuse.

<u>Challenges:</u> FO systems require efficient membrane selection and management to prevent clogging and maintain performance. Research is underway to optimize the chemical properties of the extracts and to develop OF-adapted membranes.

Pressure retarded osmosis (PRO):

Pressure retarded osmosis (PRO) is a concept related to osmotic energy production, where the difference in osmotic pressure between a salt solution and a freshwater solution is exploited to produce energy. It is a controlled mixing of seawater and fresh water through a semi-permeable membrane, causing water to flow from the freshwater side to the saltwater side due to the difference in osmotic pressure. The flow of water generates hydraulic pressure that can be used to drive turbines and generate electricity. [22-24] It includes:

<u>Energy Generation:</u> PRO is not a water treatment process but a method for generating renewable energy from the osmotic potential difference. The generated energy can be harnessed to produce electricity and potentially contribute to sustainable power generation.

<u>Challenges:</u> PRO faces challenges related to membrane performance, system design, and efficiency optimization. Membranes need to be carefully selected to balance osmotic transport and minimize fouling. Both Forward Osmosis (FO) and Pressure-Retarded Osmosis (PRO) are innovative concepts that leverage osmotic principles for various applications, ranging from water treatment to energy generation. While these technologies are still in the research and development stage for large-scale implementation, they hold promise for addressing water and energy challenges in the future.

## d. Electrodialysis and capacitive deionization:

Electrodialysis (ED):

Electrodialysis (ED) is an electrochemical separation process that utilizes ion-selective membranes to separate ions from a solution under the influence of an electric field. It is commonly used for desalination and the removal of ionic impurities from water. ED is particularly effective for treating brackish water and industrial wastewater, where the concentration of dissolved ions is relatively high. [25, 26]

<u>Process Steps</u>: A series of alternating cation- and anion-selective membranes are placed between the two electrodes. When a direct current (DC) is applied across the membrane, cations move towards the negatively charged electrode (cathode), while anions move towards the positively charged electrode (anode). As the ions move across the respective membranes, purified water is collected in compartments between them and concentrated brine is collected on the outer sides.

<u>Applications</u>: Electrolysis is used for desalination, especially in brackish water treatment or as a polishing step after reverse osmosis. It is also used to recover valuable materials from industrial wastewater and to selectively remove specific ions.

<u>Benefits</u>: ED works without high pressure, which saves energy compared to some other desalination methods. It can selectively remove ions, allowing customized water treatment.

<u>Challenges</u>: Deposits and deposits can occur on membrane surfaces, affecting system performance. Membrane durability, stability, and maintenance are important considerations. [26, 27] *Capacitive Deionization (CDI)*:

Capacitive deionization (CDI) is an emerging water treatment technology that uses an electric field to remove ions from water by adsorption onto porous electrodes. CDI differs from other desalination methods in that it operates at low voltage and relies on an electric double layer forming on the electrode surface to attract and trap ions.

<u>Process Steps</u>: The CDI system consists of two porous (usually carbon-based) electrodes separated by a spacer. When a voltage is applied to the electrode electrodes, water ions are adsorbed onto the electrode surface. To regenerate the system, the voltage is reversed causing the ions to desorb and release into a separate solution.

Applications: CDI is mainly used to desalinate brackish water and remove specific ions from water.

It is considered environmentally friendly due to its low energy consumption and no chemical use.

<u>Benefits</u>: CDI systems save energy, especially when compared to traditional desalination methods.

They provide selective removal of ions and easy system regeneration.

<u>Challenges</u>: CDI systems may have lower water recovery rates than some other desalination processes.

Performance can be affected by water composition, electrode material and system design.

Electrolysis (ED) and capacitive deionization (CDI) are innovative methods for desalination and water treatment, offering the advantages of energy efficiency and selectivity. As these technologies continue to develop and improve, they have the potential to contribute to sustainable water management and address water scarcity and water quality challenges. [25]

#### IV. Thermal Desalination Processes

Thermal desalination is a group of techniques that harness heat energy to separate freshwater from saltwater sources. Among the most important methods in this category are rapid multi-stage distillation (MSF) and multi-action distillation (MED). In these processes, seawater is heated and the resulting steam is condensed to produce clean, fresh water, leaving behind a concentrated brine. The efficiency of thermal desalination depends on the use of temperature differences to facilitate evaporation and condensation, thereby ensuring the removal of salts and impurities. Although thermal desalination can be energy-intensive due to its large heat requirements, advances in heat recovery systems and the integration of renewable energy sources are helping to mitigate this drawback. These methods find application in areas with a lot of heat or next to industries that generate waste heat. Despite the energy demand, thermal desalination processes contribute significantly to solving water scarcity and improving the availability of fresh water in different environments.

Multi-stage flash (MSF) distillation

Multi-Stage Flash (MSF) distillation is a widely used thermal desalination process that converts saline water, such as seawater, into freshwater through the application of heat. It operates on the principle of utilizing multiple stages of evaporation and condensation to separate freshwater from the brine. MSF is known for its efficiency and large-scale production capabilities, making it a vital technique in addressing water scarcity in various regions. Key features and details of the Multi-Stage Flash (MSF) distillation process:

<u>Process Overview</u>: In the MSF process, seawater is preheated and then introduced into a series of chambers or stages, each maintained at a lower pressure than the previous one. As the seawater enters each stage, it is rapidly heated, causing it to evaporate and form steam. The steam rises and is condensed on heat exchange surfaces, yielding freshwater.

<u>Multiple Stages</u>: MSF operates through multiple stages to increase efficiency. Each stage has its own set of heat exchangers and condensation surfaces. The condensed freshwater from one stage becomes the heating source for the next stage, utilizing the heat energy effectively and minimizing energy wastage.

<u>Brine Concentration</u>: The remaining unevaporated seawater, now concentrated with salt and impurities, becomes the brine. The brine is often used to preheat the incoming seawater, improving energy efficiency.

<u>Energy Requirements</u>: MSF requires a significant amount of thermal energy, usually generated by steam produced from conventional fuels or waste heat from industrial processes. The efficiency of MSF can be improved by using waste heat from power plants, reducing the overall energy consumption.

Applications: MSF is commonly used in large-scale desalination plants, particularly in regions where energy costs are relatively low or waste heat is readily available. It is well-suited for producing freshwater for municipal, industrial, and agricultural needs.

<u>Advantages</u>: MSF is capable of producing high-quality freshwater with low levels of contaminants and impurities. It is robust and well-established, with a track record of successful operation in various settings.

<u>Challenges</u>: MSF systems can be capital-intensive to construct and maintain. Environmental concerns arise from brine disposal and the potential impacts on marine ecosystems. Overall, Multi-Stage Flash (MSF) distillation remains a prominent thermal desalination process, offering an effective solution to water scarcity by converting seawater into freshwater through controlled evaporation and condensation. While addressing the challenges associated with energy consumption and brine management is important, MSF continues to play a vital role in ensuring access to clean and potable water resources in regions where water availability is limited. [29-31] *Multi-effect distillation (MED)* 

Multi-Effect Distillation (MED) is a thermal desalination process that utilizes a series of interconnected evaporator stages to convert saline water, such as seawater, into freshwater. Similar to Multi-Stage Flash (MSF) distillation, MED harnesses heat energy to facilitate evaporation and condensation, separating freshwater from brine. However, MED operates with a slightly different configuration and is known for its energy efficiency and adaptability to various heat sources. Key features and details of the Multi-Effect Distillation (MED) process:

<u>Process Overview</u>: In the MED process, seawater is heated and introduced into a series of interconnected evaporator stages, often referred to as effects. Each effect operates at progressively lower pressure, leading to a reduction in boiling temperature as the seawater moves through the stages. As the seawater enters each effect, it evaporates and releases vapor, which then condenses on heat exchange surfaces to produce freshwater.

<u>Energy Transfer:</u> The process operates on the principle of heat transfer from the vapor in one effect to the seawater in the next effect. The latent heat released during condensation in one effect is utilized to evaporate seawater in the subsequent effect, thus maximizing energy efficiency.

<u>Brine Concentration</u>: Similar to MSF, the remaining concentrated seawater becomes brine and is usually used to preheat the incoming seawater, enhancing energy efficiency.

<u>Energy Requirements</u>: MED requires heat energy, typically supplied by steam generated from conventional fuels or waste heat from industrial processes. The use of multiple effects maximizes the utilization of the heat source, resulting in higher energy efficiency compared to single-effect distillation.

<u>Applications</u>: MED is well-suited for producing freshwater for various applications, including municipal water supply, industrial processes, and agriculture. It is particularly adaptable to waste heat sources from power plants, industrial facilities, or other processes.

Advantages: MED offers energy efficiency and operational flexibility, making it suitable for various heat sources and conditions. It can produce high-quality freshwater with reduced energy consumption compared to some other thermal desalination methods.

<u>Challenges</u>: MED systems can be complex to design, build, and operate. Similar to other thermal desalination methods, brine disposal remains an environmental concern.

Multi-Effect Distillation (MED) stands as a robust and efficient thermal desalination process that contributes to addressing water scarcity challenges by converting saline water into freshwater. Its effective utilization of heat energy and adaptability to different heat sources make it a valuable option for producing clean and potable water resources in regions with limited freshwater availability. [31-33]

Vapor compression (VC) and mechanical vapor compression (MVC)

Vapor Compression (VC) desalination is an energy-efficient thermal desalination process that utilizes the principles of refrigeration to produce freshwater from saline water sources. It is based on the evaporation and condensation of a working fluid, typically a refrigerant, to separate freshwater from brine. VC desalination is known for its relatively low energy consumption compared to other thermal methods. Key features and details of Vapor Compression (VC) desalination:

<u>Process Overview</u>: VC desalination involves a cycle of evaporation and condensation. Seawater is preheated and then introduced into an evaporator where it is vaporized using heat from a heat source, often waste heat from industrial processes or renewable energy sources. The vapor is then compressed, raising its temperature and pressure. The high-pressure vapor is condensed using a cooling medium, releasing heat and creating freshwater through condensation. The working fluid is then expanded, and the cycle repeats. [35-38]

<u>Energy Efficiency</u>: VC desalination is energy-efficient because the heat required for evaporation is transferred internally through the working fluid and is not supplied directly by external heating. It can achieve relatively high water recovery rates compared to other thermal methods.

<u>Applications</u>: VC desalination is suitable for a range of applications, including small-scale community systems, decentralized water supply, and industrial processes requiring freshwater.

Mechanical Vapor Compression (MVC) desalination is a variation of the vapor compression process, specifically designed to enhance energy efficiency by using mechanical work to compress the vapor instead of relying solely on external heat. MVC is often used for brine concentration, which can be a beneficial pre-treatment step before other desalination methods. Key features and details of Mechanical Vapor Compression (MVC) desalination:

<u>Process Overview</u>: MVC desalination is similar to VC desalination, but it introduces a mechanical compressor to increase the pressure of the vapor. The mechanical work required for compression is often provided by an electric motor.

<u>Energy Efficiency</u>: MVC's incorporation of mechanical compression improves energy efficiency by utilizing mechanical work to enhance the vapor pressure, reducing the external heat input required.

Applications: MVC is commonly used for brine concentration and waste stream management in industries where high salinity streams need treatment.

Vapor Compression (VC) desalination and its variation, Mechanical Vapor Compression (MVC), are thermal desalination processes that utilize evaporation, condensation, and mechanical compression to produce freshwater. VC desalination operates on the principles of refrigeration and is energy-efficient, while MVC enhances efficiency by incorporating mechanical compression. Both methods offer potential solutions to water scarcity by converting saline water into freshwater while optimizing energy consumption.

## V. Emerging and Innovative Desalination Techniques

Emerging and innovative desalination techniques are driving the development of sustainable water solutions that address the pressing challenges of water scarcity and resource management. These innovative approaches explore new technologies and principles to improve efficiency, reduce energy consumption, and reduce environmental impact. Among these techniques, forward osmosis (FO) and pressure delayed osmosis (PRO) exploit the osmotic potential gradient to extract fresh water and generate energy simultaneously. Membrane distillation (MD) exploits the difference in vapor pressure across hydrophobic membranes, promising efficient desalination with low temperature requirements. In addition, solar desalination uses renewable energy to power the desalination process, using solar thermal or photovoltaic systems. Electrochemical desalination methods, such as capacitive deionization (CDI) and electrolysis (ED), show great promise for their ability to selectively remove ions from water using minimal energy. These emerging approaches show innovative potential to reshape the desalination landscape, promoting more sustainable, cost-effective and environmentally friendly solutions to secure water supplies globally. [39-43]

Solar desalination:

Solar desalination is a sustainable and innovative approach that utilizes solar energy to drive the desalination of saline water, converting it into freshwater suitable for various uses. This method capitalizes on the abundant and renewable energy provided by the sun to address water scarcity challenges in regions with limited access to freshwater resources. Key features and details of solar desalination:

<u>Process Types</u>: Solar desalination encompasses various technologies, including solar distillation, solar-assisted reverse osmosis (RO), and solar multistage flash (MSF). Solar distillation involves evaporation of seawater or brackish water by solar heat and subsequent condensation to produce freshwater. Solar-assisted RO integrates solar energy with conventional reverse osmosis processes, reducing the energy required for pressurization. Solar MSF employs solar heat to drive the evaporation-condensation cycle in multistage flash desalination systems.

<u>Solar Collectors</u>: Solar desalination systems utilize solar collectors (solar thermal or photovoltaic) to capture and convert solar energy into heat or electricity. Solar collectors can concentrate sunlight for higher temperatures in solar distillation systems or provide electricity for powering desalination processes in solar-assisted RO and MSF.

Advantages: Solar desalination is environmentally friendly, utilizing renewable energy sources and reducing greenhouse gas emissions. It offers a decentralized solution for water supply, especially in remote or offgrid areas. Solar energy is abundant in many arid and coastal regions, aligning well with the locations where desalination is often needed.

<u>Challenges</u>: Solar desalination can be affected by weather conditions and sunlight availability. Initial setup costs for solar desalination systems can be relatively high, although operational costs may be lower due to reduced energy consumption. Efficiency and scalability vary depending on the specific technology and local conditions.

<u>Applications</u>: Solar desalination is used for various applications, including providing potable water for communities, irrigation for agriculture, and freshwater for industrial processes.

Research and Innovation: Ongoing research focuses on improving the efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and reliability of solar desalination technologies. Innovations include advanced materials for solar collectors, hybrid systems combining solar energy with other desalination methods, and optimization of system design and integration.

Solar desalination represents a promising and sustainable approach to addressing water scarcity by harnessing solar energy to produce freshwater. As advancements continue to enhance the efficiency and affordability of solar desalination technologies, they hold the potential to contribute significantly to ensuring reliable and accessible water supplies in regions facing water challenges. [43] *Membrane distillation* 

Membrane Distillation (MD) is an advanced desalination and water purification process that relies on vapor pressure differences across a hydrophobic membrane to separate water vapor from a saline or contaminated liquid stream. This innovative technique offers advantages such as energy efficiency, high-quality freshwater production, and the ability to handle varying feedwater salinities and complex contaminants.

<u>Process Overview</u>: In MD, a hydrophobic membrane acts as a barrier between a hot saline solution (feedwater) and a cold, low-pressure vapor chamber. Heat is applied to the feedwater, causing water molecules to evaporate and migrate through the membrane due to the vapor pressure difference. The water vapor then condenses on the other side of the membrane, producing freshwater while leaving behind concentrated brine.

<u>Membrane Properties</u>: The hydrophobic nature of the membrane prevents liquid water from passing through, allowing only water vapor to permeate. The membrane pores are typically on the order of micrometres, ensuring effective separation of vapor from liquid.

<u>Energy Efficiency</u>: MD operates at lower temperatures compared to other desalination methods like Multi-Stage Flash, resulting in reduced energy consumption.

<u>Versatility</u>: MD can handle a wide range of feedwater salinities, making it suitable for treating brackish water, seawater, and industrial effluents.

<u>Resistance to Scaling and Fouling</u>: The nature of the hydrophobic membrane reduces the risk of fouling and scaling, contributing to longer membrane life.

<u>Temperature Gradient</u>: The efficiency of MD is influenced by the temperature difference between the hot and cold sides, necessitating careful control to optimize performance.

Membrane Durability: MD membranes must withstand temperature variations and potential fouling, requiring robust materials and designs.

Applications: MD is applied in various contexts, including brackish and seawater desalination, wastewater treatment, and concentration of valuable products in industrial processes. It is suitable for decentralized systems, remote locations, and areas with limited access to conventional energy sources. [44]

Research and Innovation: Ongoing research focuses on improving membrane materials, system design, and energy recovery methods to enhance MD efficiency and reliability. Hybrid systems that combine MD with other desalination technologies or renewable energy sources are also being explored.

Membrane Distillation is a promising desalination and water treatment method that offers a unique set of advantages, particularly in terms of energy efficiency and versatility. As advancements continue to refine membrane materials and system design, MD has the potential to contribute significantly to addressing global water scarcity challenges while minimizing energy consumption and environmental impact.

Pressure retarded osmosis (PRO) with salinity gradient power

Pressure slow osmosis (PRO) is an innovative process that exploits the difference in osmotic potential between two solutions of different salinity to generate energy. This concept, also known as the power of the salinity gradient, exploits the natural tendency of water to switch from a less dense solution (low salinity) to a more concentrated solution (high salinity) through semi-permeable, generating hydraulic pressure that can be converted into electricity. Key features and details of Pressure-Retarded Osmosis (PRO) with salinity gradient power:

<u>Process Overview</u>: PRO involves two main solutions: a feed solution with lower salinity and a draw solution with higher salinity. The two solutions are separated by a semi-permeable membrane that allows water molecules to pass through while blocking the movement of ions and other solutes. Water from the feed solution naturally diffuses through the membrane into the draw solution, resulting in increased pressure on the draw side. The pressure difference between the feed and draw solutions can be harnessed to drive a turbine or a hydraulic motor, generating electricity.

Advantages: Renewable Energy Source: PRO utilizes the osmotic potential difference between saline and less saline water, making it a renewable and sustainable energy source. Low Environmental Impact: PRO does not involve the combustion of fossil fuels or the emission of greenhouse gases, contributing to reduced environmental impact.

<u>Potential for Co-Location</u>: PRO systems can be co-located with desalination plants, wastewater treatment facilities, or industrial processes, maximizing resource utilization.

<u>Challenges</u>: Membrane Performance: PRO relies on specialized membranes that are selective to water molecules while blocking ions and other solutes. The development of durable and efficient membranes is crucial for optimal performance.

<u>Scaling and Fouling</u>: Membrane fouling and scaling due to the accumulation of impurities can affect system efficiency and require maintenance.

Engineering Complexity: Designing and optimizing PRO systems requires careful consideration of membrane selection, system configuration, and energy recovery mechanisms.

<u>Applications</u>: PRO with salinity gradient power can be applied in various contexts, including power generation from river estuaries, where freshwater rivers meet seawater, or from the discharge of wastewater treatment plants into seawater.

Research and Development: Ongoing research focuses on improving membrane materials, system design, and energy recovery techniques to enhance PRO efficiency and commercial viability. Pilot projects and demonstrations are being conducted to test PRO's feasibility and integration into existing infrastructure.

Pressure-Retarded Osmosis with salinity gradient power holds great potential as a clean and renewable energy source, offering a unique way to generate electricity while also addressing water-related challenges. As technology advances and understanding of the process improves, PRO could become an important component of the global energy mix, contributing to a more sustainable and resilient energy future. *Hybrid desalination systems* 

Hybrid desalination systems combine two or more desalination technologies to leverage their individual strengths, enhance overall efficiency, and address the limitations of each method. These integrated approaches aim to optimize energy consumption, reduce costs, and improve water recovery rates, making them valuable solutions for sustainable water supply in regions facing water scarcity. Several hybrid configurations have been

developed, each tailored to specific water sources, energy availability, and treatment requirements. Key features and details of hybrid desalination systems:

<u>Combination of Technologies</u>: Hybrid systems typically combine different desalination technologies, such as reverse osmosis (RO), multi-stage flash (MSF), multi-effect distillation (MED), electrodialysis (ED), and more. The chosen technologies are integrated in a way that exploits their complementary advantages and minimizes their individual drawbacks.

<u>Energy Recovery and Integration</u>: Energy recovery devices, such as pressure exchangers or isobaric chambers, can be used to transfer energy between desalination processes, optimizing energy consumption. Waste heat from one process can be used to drive another, enhancing overall efficiency.

<u>Water Recovery</u>: Hybrid systems often aim to maximize water recovery rates by using the concentrate from one process as the feedwater for another, reducing brine discharge and minimizing environmental impact.

<u>Adaptability</u>: Hybrid systems can be tailored to suit specific feedwater characteristics, energy availability, and local conditions, making them versatile for different applications and regions.

<u>Applications</u>: Hybrid desalination systems are used in a variety of contexts, including municipal water supply, industrial processes, and decentralized water treatment. They can be particularly valuable for brackish water desalination, where energy consumption is a significant consideration.

<u>Advantages</u>: Enhanced Efficiency: Hybrid systems capitalize on the strengths of different technologies, leading to improved overall system efficiency and reduced energy consumption.

<u>Cost Savings</u>: By optimizing energy utilization and water recovery, hybrid systems can lead to cost savings over standalone desalination methods.

<u>Environmental Benefits</u>: Reduced energy consumption and brine discharge contribute to a lower environmental impact.

<u>Challenges</u>: Complex Design: Designing and integrating multiple desalination technologies requires careful engineering and consideration of various factors.

<u>Maintenance and Operation</u>: Hybrid systems may involve more intricate maintenance and operation compared to single-process systems.

<u>Examples</u>: RO-ED: Combining reverse osmosis with electrodialysis to enhance ion removal and improve water quality.

RO-MED: Integrating reverse osmosis with multi-effect distillation for increased water recovery.

Hybrid desalination systems represent an innovative and effective approach to addressing water scarcity and providing sustainable freshwater solutions. By intelligently combining different desalination technologies, these systems offer the potential to optimize energy usage, improve water recovery rates, and contribute to a more resilient and resource-efficient water supply.

## VI. Pre-Treatment and Post-Treatment Strategies

Pre-treatment and post-treatment strategies are essential parts of the desalination process, ensuring efficient and effective removal of impurities and contaminants from the feed water and treated product. Pretreatment includes initial purification steps prior to introduction into the desalination plant, in order to avoid clogging, scaling and damage to membranes or equipment. Common pretreatment methods include filtration, sedimentation, coagulation, and chemical conditioning to remove suspended solids, algae, and organic matter. Post-treatment, on the other hand, focuses on polishing desalinated water to meet quality standards and adjusting its chemical properties for safe distribution and use. Techniques such as remineralization, pH adjustment and sterilization are used to ensure portability and compatibility with delivery systems. The combination of pre-treatment and post-treatment strategies improves the reliability, lifespan and overall performance of desalination systems, helping to provide safe, high-quality fresh water for other applications together. [44-50] *Importance of pre-treatment in desalination:* 

Pretreatment plays an important role in desalination by preparing feed water to meet the requirements of the desalination equipment, optimizing performance and extending the life of the device and membranes. The importance of pretreatment in desalination is emphasized by several key factors:

<u>Pollution prevention</u>: Pretreatment removes suspended solids, algae, bacteria and organic matter that can cause odours and clog desalination membranes. Congestion reduces water flow, increases energy consumption and reduces system performance. Effective pre-treatment minimizes deposits, allowing desalination to operate at its designed capacity.

<u>Decreasing rate</u>: Scale occurs when minerals in the feed water precipitate and accumulate on the surface of filters or other equipment. The residue can reduce membrane permeability and heat transfer efficiency, resulting in reduced efficiency. Pretreatment processes such as anti-scale dosing or water softening can prevent scale by controlling mineral concentrations.

<u>Membrane protection</u>: Desalination membranes are very sensitive to particles, chlorine and other contaminants. Pretreatment protects membranes from damage, extending their life and reducing the need for frequent replacement.

<u>Energy Efficiency</u>: By reducing deposits and deposits, pretreatment helps to maintain optimal heat transfer and differential pressure in desalination plants. This results in lower energy consumption and operating costs.

<u>Product water quality</u>: Proper pre-treatment ensures that the water entering the desalination plant meets the required quality standards. This results in higher water quality with less impurities, which simplifies post-treatment and improves the overall water treatment process.

<u>Operational reliability</u>: Efficient pretreatment minimizes downtime for maintenance and cleaning, improving the reliability and uptime of the desalination plant.

<u>Environmental impact</u>: Pretreatment can reduce the volume of brine concentrate and other waste streams generated during desalination, helping to reduce environmental impact.

<u>Cost savings</u>: Investing in effective pretreatment strategies can provide long-term savings by reducing energy consumption, minimizing chemical use, and extending the life of membranes and equipment.

<u>Regulatory compliance</u>: Compliance with regulatory water quality requirements is essential to ensuring public health and safety. Proper pre-processing helps to meet these standards and avoid potential legal problems.

Effective pretreatment methods vary depending on the feed water source, the desalination technology used, and the specific water quality goals. By addressing fouling, scale and other problems in the first place, pretreatment not only improves desalination efficiency, but also contributes to reliable and sustainable freshwater production in areas where water is scarce face water shortage.

*Types of pre-treatment processes:* 

Pretreatment is necessary to optimize feed water quality before entering the desalination plant. Different methods are used to remove suspended solids, colloids, organic matter and other impurities that can affect the performance of the desalination system. Some of the main pre-processing processes include:

<u>Coagulation</u>: Coagulation involves the addition of coagulants, such as aluminium sulphate (alum) or ferric chloride, to destabilize suspended particles and colloids in the feedwater. These coagulated particles form larger aggregates that are easier to remove through subsequent processes like flocculation and sedimentation.

<u>Flocculation</u>: Flocculation follows coagulation and involves gentle mixing to encourage the coagulated particles to collide and aggregate into larger flocs. The resulting flocs settle more effectively during sedimentation, aiding in their removal from the water.

<u>Sedimentation</u>: Sedimentation is a process in which water is allowed to sit undisturbed, allowing the larger flocs formed during coagulation and flocculation to settle to the bottom. The clarified water is then collected from the top, while the settled solids (sludge) are removed.

<u>Filtration</u>: Filtration involves passing the water through porous media, such as sand or multimedia filters, to remove remaining suspended particles and fine colloidal matter. Filtration can be done using gravity, pressure, or vacuum methods.

<u>Ultrafiltration (UF)</u>: Ultrafiltration is a membrane-based process that uses a semi-permeable membrane with small pores to physically separate suspended solids, bacteria, and some viruses from the feedwater. UF provides effective removal of particles and pathogens and is commonly used as a pre-treatment step.

<u>Chlorination</u>: Chlorination is used to disinfect the feedwater by adding chlorine or chlorine compounds. Chlorine helps kill bacteria and pathogens, reducing the risk of biofouling and microbial growth in the desalination system.

Antiscalant Dosage: Antiscalants are chemicals added to the feedwater to prevent the precipitation of mineral salts that can cause scaling on membrane surfaces. Antiscalants bind to potential scale-forming ions, keeping them in solution.

<u>pH Adjustment</u>: pH adjustment using acids or bases is employed to optimize the coagulation and flocculation processes, enhancing their efficiency and the removal of impurities.

<u>Activated Carbon Adsorption</u>: Activated carbon is used to remove organic compounds, color, taste, and odor from the feedwater. It adsorbs a wide range of organic molecules onto its surface.

Ozone Treatment: Ozone is a powerful oxidizing agent used to break down organic matter and destroy microorganisms, improving water quality.

The selection of pre-treatment processes depends on factors such as feedwater characteristics, the desalination technology used, local regulations, and the desired water quality. A well-designed combination of pre-treatment methods ensures effective removal of impurities, minimizing fouling, scaling, and other operational challenges in desalination systems.

Post-treatment for product water quality:

Post-treatment is a crucial step in the desalination process to ensure that the treated product water meets the required quality standards, is safe for distribution, and is compatible with the intended use. Various post-treatment strategies are employed to enhance water quality and address specific needs. Some key post-treatment processes include:

<u>Remineralization</u>: Desalination processes can remove minerals along with salts, potentially leading to flat or low-mineral water that may be undesirable for drinking or certain industrial applications. Remineralization

involves adding small amounts of beneficial minerals, such as calcium and magnesium, back into the treated water to improve taste, pH stability, and overall water quality.

<u>pH Adjustment</u>: pH adjustment may be necessary to achieve the desired pH level in the treated water. This can help prevent corrosion in distribution systems and ensure compatibility with downstream treatment processes.

<u>Disinfection</u>: Disinfection is a critical step to ensure that the treated water is free from harmful microorganisms before it enters the distribution system. Common disinfection methods include chlorination, chloramination, ozonation, and ultraviolet (UV) irradiation. Disinfection prevents microbial regrowth and helps maintain water quality during storage and distribution.

<u>Corrosion Control</u>: Corrosion control measures, such as adding corrosion inhibitors or adjusting pH, are taken to prevent the deterioration of distribution system infrastructure and maintain water quality.

<u>Fluoridation</u>: Adding fluoride to the treated water can help prevent tooth decay and promote dental health, especially in communities where fluoride levels are suboptimal.

<u>Taste and Odor Control</u>: Additional treatment steps, such as activated carbon filtration or ozonation, may be used to remove or control taste and odor compounds that could affect the water's palatability.

<u>Residual Salinity Adjustment</u>: In some cases, the treated water's salinity may need to be adjusted to ensure it aligns with local regulations and meets the desired quality for different uses.

<u>Nutrient Adjustment</u>: Nutrient levels, such as nitrates and phosphates, may be adjusted to meet regulatory requirements and avoid potential issues like eutrophication in water bodies

<u>Distribution System Compatibility</u>: Post-treatment ensures that the treated water is chemically stable and compatible with the distribution system, reducing the risk of pipe corrosion or mineral deposition.

<u>Quality Monitoring</u>: Regular monitoring and testing of the treated water are essential to ensure that post-treatment processes are effective and the water consistently meets established quality standards.

The combination of these post-treatment processes helps optimize the treated water's quality, taste, safety, and compatibility with distribution systems and end-users. Effective post-treatment ensures that the desalinated water is fit for its intended purpose and contributes to a reliable and sustainable water supply. [48-50]

## VII. Future Prospects and Research Directions

Technological advancements on the horizon for desalination and water treatment are shaping the future of sustainable water supply. These innovations address energy efficiency, environmental concerns, scalability, and affordability, reflecting the ongoing efforts to enhance the performance of water treatment processes. [51-53] Some notable advancements include:

Graphene-Based Membranes:

Graphene, a single layer of carbon atoms arranged in a hexagonal lattice, has shown promise for desalination membranes due to its exceptional permeability and selectivity. Graphene-based membranes could potentially revolutionize water treatment by providing highly efficient filtration with reduced energy consumption.

Nanotechnology:

Nanomaterials and nanofiltration membranes are being developed to enhance separation efficiency, reduce fouling, and improve water quality. Nanotechnology enables the creation of precise pores and surface properties that enhance contaminant removal. There are researches in the nanomaterials and nanotechnology which are used for catalysis and photocatalysis technique for waste water treatment. As some of the nanomaterials work great as catalyst in the presence of visible light, UV light or IR. [54-60] These nanomaterials are also known to have shown catalytic properties in different physical environment, which include piezo catalysis as well as pyro catalysis. [61]

Forward Osmosis (FO) and Pressure-Retarded Osmosis (PRO):

FO and PRO technologies are advancing to harness osmotic gradients for both desalination and energy generation simultaneously. These methods hold potential for sustainable water treatment and renewable energy production.

Solar-Powered Desalination:

Integration of solar energy into desalination processes is gaining traction, providing a renewable and environmentally friendly approach to water production. Solar desalination technologies continue to improve, making them more accessible and effective.

Energy Recovery and Integration:

Advanced energy recovery devices, such as pressure exchangers and isobaric chambers, are being developed to improve energy efficiency in desalination systems by converting energy from high-pressure brine to drive other processes.

Membrane Innovation:

Researchers are exploring novel membrane materials with improved fouling resistance, selectivity, and permeability. These advancements help prolong membrane lifespan, reduce maintenance, and increase treatment efficiency.

Electrochemical and Electrodialysis Technologies:

Electrochemical desalination techniques like electrodialysis and capacitive deionization are being refined to selectively remove ions using minimal energy, making them attractive for brackish water treatment and desalination.

Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Data Analytics:

AI algorithms and data analytics are being used to optimize process control, predict system performance, and reduce energy consumption in real-time, leading to more efficient and adaptive water treatment.

Decentralized Water Treatment:

Modular and decentralized water treatment systems are becoming more prevalent, allowing communities to address water quality challenges locally and reduce the need for large-scale infrastructure. *Hybrid Systems:* 

Hybrid desalination systems that combine different technologies are being developed to maximize efficiency, energy recovery, and water recovery rates while minimizing operational challenges.

Smart Water Networks:

Sensor technology and Internet of Things (IoT) devices are being integrated into water treatment and distribution networks to monitor water quality, detect leaks, and optimize resource allocation.

Desalination Brine Management: Advances in brine management technologies are helping mitigate the environmental impact of concentrated brine discharge, including strategies for resource recovery and zero-liquid-discharge systems.

These technological advancements hold the potential to transform the water treatment landscape, making it more sustainable, efficient, and accessible to meet the growing global demand for freshwater. As research and development continue, these innovations will play a critical role in addressing water scarcity challenges and ensuring a resilient water future. Technological advancements on the horizon

Research areas for improved desalination processes

Research in desalination is a dynamic field aimed at improving the efficiency, cost-effectiveness, and sustainability of water treatment processes. Several key research areas are being explored to advance desalination technologies and address emerging challenges. Some prominent research areas include:

<u>Membrane Materials and Technologies</u>: Developing advanced membrane materials with enhanced selectivity, permeability, and fouling resistance is a critical focus. Research explores nanocomposite membranes, graphene-based membranes, and other innovations to improve separation efficiency and durability.

<u>Energy-Efficient Desalination</u>: Research aims to optimize energy recovery mechanisms, develop more efficient heat exchange systems, and explore novel approaches like pressure exchangers, isobaric chambers, and mechanical vapor compression to minimize energy consumption in desalination processes.

<u>Hybrid Systems Integration</u>: Investigating the integration of different desalination technologies in hybrid systems to maximize energy and water recovery rates while mitigating operational challenges. Combining processes like RO, FO, and PRO can lead to innovative and efficient solutions.

<u>Forward Osmosis and Pressure-Retarded Osmosis</u>: Advancing FO and PRO technologies to enhance their efficiency, scalability, and applications for both desalination and energy generation. Research focuses on membrane development, draw solutions, and system design.

<u>Electrochemical Desalination</u>: Exploring electrochemical processes like capacitive deionization, electrodialysis, and electrosorption for desalination and ion removal. Research aims to optimize electrode materials, increase energy efficiency, and improve ion selectivity.

<u>Solar-Powered Desalination</u>: Investigating novel solar desalination technologies, including solar-assisted RO, multi-effect distillation, and solar-driven electrodialysis. Research focuses on improving solar collection efficiency, heat transfer, and overall system integration.

<u>Brine Management and Resource Recovery</u>: Developing innovative strategies for treating and managing concentrated brine discharge, including zero-liquid-discharge approaches, mineral recovery, and utilization of brine for other purposes.

<u>Anti-Fouling and Scaling Solutions</u>: Researching effective anti-fouling and scaling strategies, such as advanced pretreatment techniques, surface modifications, and the use of environmentally friendly additives.

Smart Process Control and Monitoring: Utilizing data analytics, AI, and IoT technologies to optimize process control, predict system performance, and enhance real-time monitoring for improved efficiency and reliability.

<u>Environmental Impact Reduction</u>: Investigating the environmental impact of desalination processes and exploring ways to minimize energy consumption, brine disposal, and carbon footprint.

<u>Decentralized and Modular Systems</u>: Research focuses on developing compact and decentralized water treatment systems suitable for diverse applications, small communities, and remote areas.

<u>Water-Energy-Food Nexus</u>: Understanding the interconnectedness of water, energy, and food systems to develop integrated solutions that address multiple challenges simultaneously.

<u>Public Perception and Acceptance</u>: Researching public attitudes, social acceptance, and potential barriers to desalination adoption to ensure successful implementation and integration into communities. Collaboration between researchers, engineers, and industry stakeholders is essential to drive innovation and advancements in these research areas, ultimately contributing to more efficient, sustainable, and accessible desalination processes to address global water scarcity challenges. [51, 52]

Integration with smart water grids and water reuse systems

Integration with smart water grids and water reuse systems is a strategic approach that optimizes water management, distribution, and treatment to ensure a reliable and sustainable water supply. These integrated systems leverage advanced technologies, data analytics, and real-time monitoring to enhance efficiency, reduce waste, and address water scarcity challenges. Here are the key aspects of integrating desalination with smart water grids and water reuse systems:

#### Real-Time Monitoring and Data Analytics:

Smart water grids incorporate sensors, meters, and monitoring devices to collect real-time data on water quality, quantity, and distribution. This data is analysed to optimize water flow, detect leaks, and identify potential issues. Data analytics and predictive modelling help anticipate demand patterns, optimize resource allocation, and make informed decisions for efficient water distribution.

## Demand Management and Load Balancing:

Integration with smart grids enables better coordination between water supply and demand. Water distribution can be adjusted based on real-time demand, reducing waste and energy consumption. Load balancing techniques ensure that water from various sources, including desalination plants and water reuse systems, is distributed optimally to meet fluctuating demand.

<u>Water Quality Assurance</u>: Real-time water quality monitoring ensures that treated water from desalination and reuse systems meets regulatory standards before entering the distribution network. Automated controls can adjust treatment processes in response to changes in source water quality, optimizing treatment efficiency.

<u>Flexibility and Resilience</u>: Integrated systems offer flexibility by allowing water sources to be switched based on availability and demand. During water shortages or emergencies, desalinated water and reused water can be prioritized. This resilience enhances the overall water supply system's ability to withstand disruptions and ensures a continuous and reliable water supply. [53]

<u>Water Reuse and Reclamation</u>: Integration with water reuse systems involves treating and repurposing wastewater for non-potable uses, such as irrigation, industrial processes, and toilet flushing. Treated wastewater can supplement freshwater supplies and reduce the strain on natural water sources, complementing the desalination process.

<u>Resource Efficiency</u>: Integrated systems optimize resource utilization by minimizing water losses, maximizing water reuse, and reducing energy consumption through demand-driven distribution. By combining multiple sources, the overall efficiency of water treatment and distribution is improved.

<u>Community Engagement and Education</u>: Smart water grids provide real-time usage information to consumers, promoting water conservation and responsible use. Educating the public about the benefits of integrated systems fosters a culture of water sustainability and enhances community involvement.

<u>Environmental Benefits</u>: Integrating desalination and reuse systems reduces the pressure on freshwater sources and ecosystems, helping to alleviate environmental stress. Properly managed water reuse systems contribute to reducing the discharge of treated wastewater into natural water bodies.

By integrating desalination with smart water grids and water reuse systems, communities can create a comprehensive and adaptive water management approach that conserves resources, improves resilience, and ensures a sustainable water supply for current and future generations.

## VIII. Conclusion

The desalination process involves the removal of salts and impurities from seawater or brackish water to produce fresh, potable water. Various desalination technologies are employed, including membrane-based methods like reverse osmosis (RO), nanofiltration (NF), and electrodialysis, as well as thermal methods like multistage flash (MSF) and multi-effect distillation (MED). These processes rely on the principles of selective filtration or vaporization-condensation to separate water molecules from salts and contaminants. Pre-treatment is essential to remove suspended solids, organic matter, and prevent fouling and scaling in desalination units. Coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, ultrafiltration, and chlorination are among the pre-treatment techniques used. Post-treatment ensures the treated water's quality, including remineralization, pH adjustment, disinfection, and corrosion control. These steps guarantee the water's safety, taste, and compatibility with distribution systems.

Advancements in desalination include hybrid systems that combine multiple technologies, smart water grids for real-time monitoring and demand management, and integration with water reuse systems to maximize

resource efficiency. These innovations are driven by the goal of achieving energy efficiency, environmental sustainability, and a reliable water supply to address global water scarcity challenges. Desalination plays a pivotal role in shaping a water-scarce future by offering a reliable and sustainable solution to address the growing global water crisis. As freshwater sources become increasingly strained due to population growth, climate change, and pollution, desalination stands out as a key technology to ensure access to clean and safe drinking water. Its significance can be highlighted through various aspects discussed:

<u>Diverse Water Sources</u>: Desalination taps into abundant seawater and brackish water resources that were previously considered impractical for consumption. By transforming these untapped sources into freshwater, desalination diversifies the water supply, reducing reliance on limited and vulnerable freshwater reserves.

<u>Enhanced Water Security</u>: Desalination provides a consistent and dependable water supply, bolstering water security in regions prone to droughts, water scarcity, and unreliable rainfall patterns. It offers a crucial buffer against uncertain climatic conditions and ensures a stable water source for communities and industries.

<u>Scalability and Independence</u>: Desalination is highly scalable and can be tailored to meet specific water demands, whether for urban centres, industries, or remote communities. Its flexibility empowers regions to become more self-reliant in water supply, reducing their vulnerability to external water shortages.

<u>Environmental Resilience</u>: As conventional freshwater sources face ecological stress, desalination minimizes the environmental impact by using seawater and preventing further depletion of rivers and lakes. Additionally, advancements in energy-efficient technologies and brine management contribute to reducing environmental consequences.

<u>Mitigation of Water Shortages</u>: Desalination acts as a strategic tool to mitigate water shortages during emergencies, such as natural disasters or sudden population influxes. Its rapid deployment and consistent output can help avert humanitarian crises by ensuring access to safe drinking water.

<u>Quality Assurance</u>: Desalination produces high-quality water that meets stringent standards, making it a reliable source of potable water. Moreover, post-treatment processes ensure the treated water's safety, taste, and compatibility with distribution systems.

<u>Technological Innovation</u>: Continued research and innovation in desalination methods lead to improved efficiency, reduced energy consumption, and minimized environmental impacts. As technological advancements progress, desalination becomes a more economically viable and environmentally sustainable solution.

Global Impact: Desalination has a global impact by contributing to international water security, fostering economic growth, and enabling resilient infrastructure development. It can serve as a model for cross-border collaboration in addressing water scarcity challenges.

In a water-scarce future, desalination emerges as a transformative force, offering a lifeline to regions facing acute water shortages. Its capacity to harness the vast resources of the world's oceans and its potential to integrate with smart water grids, water reuse systems, and sustainable practices position desalination as a vital component in securing a sustainable and water-resilient future for generations to come.

## IX. References

- 1. Hoekstra, A.Y., 2014. Water scarcity challenges to business. *Nature climate change*, 4(5), pp.318-320.
- 2. He, C., Liu, Z., Wu, J., Pan, X., Fang, Z., Li, J. and Bryan, B.A., 2021. Future global urban water scarcity and potential solutions. Nature Communications, 12(1), p.4667.
- Kujur, V.S., Poddar, M., Dhiman, T.K., Singh, A.K. and Kumar, R., Fundamentals of Functional Materials: Applications for Clean Environment. In Metal Oxide–Based Carbon Nanocomposites for Environmental Remediation and Safety (pp. 141-169). CRC Press.
- 4. Teow, Y.H. and Mohammad, A.W., 2019. New generation nanomaterials for water desalination: A review. Desalination, 451, pp.2-17.
- Al-Amshawee, S., Yunus, M.Y.B.M., Azoddein, A.A.M., Hassell, D.G., Dakhil, I.H. and Hasan, H.A., 2020. Electrodialysis desalination for water and wastewater: A review. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 380, p.122231.
- Subramani, A. and Jacangelo, J.G., 2015. Emerging desalination technologies for water treatment: A critical review. Water research, 75, pp.164-187.
- 7. Greenlee, L.F., Lawler, D.F., Freeman, B.D., Marrot, B. and Moulin, P., 2009. Reverse osmosis desalination: water sources, technology, and today's challenges. *Water research*, 43(9), pp.2317-2348.
- 8. Delpisheh, M., Haghghi, M.A., Athari, H. and Mehrpooya, M., 2021. Desalinated water and hydrogen generation from seawater via a desalination unit and a low temperature electrolysis using a novel solar-based setup. *international journal of hydrogen energy*, 46(10), pp.7211-7229.
- 9. Semiat, R., 2008. Energy issues in desalination processes. *Environmental science & technology*, 42(22), pp.8193-8201.
- Brogioli, D., La Mantia, F. and Yip, N.Y., 2018. Thermodynamic analysis and energy efficiency of thermal desalination processes. *Desalination*, 428, pp.29-39.
- Elimelech, M. and Phillip, W.A., 2011. The future of seawater desalination: energy, technology, and the environment. *science*, 333(6043), pp.712-717.
- 12. Tijing, L.D., Dizon, J.R.C., Ibrahim, I., Nisay, A.R.N., Shon, H.K. and Advincula, R.C., 2020. 3D printing for membrane separation, desalination and water treatment. *Applied Materials Today*, 18, p.100486.
- 13. Cao, Y., Nakhjiri, A.T. and Ghadiri, M., 2022. Membrane desalination for water treatment: recent developments, technoeconomic evaluation and innovative approaches toward water sustainability. *The European Physical Journal Plus*, 137(7), p.763.

- Greenlee, L.F., Lawler, D.F., Freeman, B.D., Marrot, B. and Moulin, P., 2009. Reverse osmosis desalination: water sources, technology, and today's challenges. Water research, 43(9), pp.2317-2348.
- Zhu, A., Rahardianto, A., Christofides, P.D. and Cohen, Y., 2010. Reverse osmosis desalination with high permeability membranes—cost optimization and research needs. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 15(1-3), pp.256-266.
- Dashtpour, R. and Al-Zubaidy, S.N., 2012. Energy efficient reverse osmosis desalination process. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development*, 3(4), p.339.
- 17. Li, J., Zhu, X., Lai, C., Chen, F., Bai, L., Cheng, X., Wang, J., Wu, D., Xu, J. and Liang, H., 2023. Triethanolamine-modulated interfacial polymerization toward microcrumpled nanofiltration membranes: Performances and mechanisms. *Desalination*, 545, p.116165.
- 18. Bodzek, M., Dudziak, M. and Luks-Betlej, K., 2004. Application of membrane techniques to water purification. Removal of phthalates. *Desalination*, 162, pp.121-128.
- Fersi, C. and Dhahbi, M., 2008. Treatment of textile plant effluent by ultrafiltration and/or nanofiltration for water reuse. *Desalination*, 222(1-3), pp.263-271.
- Aouni, A., Fersi, C., Cuartas-Uribe, B., Bes-Pía, A., Alcaina-Miranda, M.I. and Dhahbi, M., 2012. Reactive dyes rejection and textile effluent treatment study using ultrafiltration and nanofiltration processes. *Desalination*, 297, pp.87-96.
- Yorgun, M.S., Balcioglu, I.A. and Saygin, O., 2008. Performance comparison of ultrafiltration, nanofiltration and reverse osmosis on whey treatment. *Desalination*, 229(1-3), pp.204-216.
- Yorgun, M.S., Balcioglu, I.A. and Saygin, O., 2008. Performance comparison of ultrafiltration, nanofiltration and reverse osmosis on whey treatment. *Desalination*, 229(1-3), pp.204-216.
- Chung, T.S., Luo, L., Wan, C.F., Cui, Y. and Amy, G., 2015. What is next for forward osmosis (FO) and pressure retarded osmosis (PRO). Separation and Purification Technology, 156, pp.856-860.
- Binger, Z.M. and Achilli, A., 2020. Forward osmosis and pressure retarded osmosis process modeling for integration with seawater reverse osmosis desalination. *Desalination*, 491, p.114583.
- Patel, S.K., Qin, M., Walker, W.S. and Elimelech, M., 2020. Energy efficiency of electro-driven brackish water desalination: Electrodialysis significantly outperforms membrane capacitive deionization. *Environmental science & technology*, 54(6), pp. 3663-3677
- Dermentzis, K. and Ouzounis, K., 2008. Continuous capacitive deionization–electrodialysis reversal through electrostatic shielding for desalination and deionization of water. *Electrochimica Acta*, 53(24), pp.7123-7130.
- Jeon, S.I., Park, H.R., Yeo, J.G., Yang, S., Cho, C.H., Han, M.H. and Kim, D.K., 2013. Desalination via a new membrane capacitive deionization process utilizing flow-electrodes. *Energy & Environmental Science*, 6(5), pp.1471-1475.
- Porada, S., Zhao, R., van der Wal, A., Presser, V. and Biesheuvel, P.M., 2013. Review on the science and technology of water desalination by capacitive deionization. *Progress in materials science*, 58(8), pp.1388-1442.
- 29. Al-Mutaz, I.S., 1996. A comparative study of RO and MSF desalination plants. *Desalination*, 106(1-3), pp.99-106.
- Gude, V.G., Nirmalakhandan, N. and Mummaneni, A., 2015. Thermodynamic and resource utilization efficiency analysis of a low thermal desalination system. In 2nd International Electronic Conference on Entropy and Its Applications.
- Al-Sahali, M. and Ettouney, H., 2007. Developments in thermal desalination processes: Design, energy, and costing aspects. *Desalination*, 214(1-3), pp.227-240.
- 32. Shahzad, M.W., Ng, K.C., Thu, K., Saha, B.B. and Chun, W.G., 2014. Multi effect desalination and adsorption desalination (MEDAD): A hybrid desalination method. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 72(2), pp.289-297.
- 33. Park, I.S., Park, S.M. and Ha, J.S., 2005. Design and application of thermal vapor compressor for multi-effect desalination plant. *Desalination*, 182(1-3), pp.199-208.
- 34. Ahmadi, P., Khanmohammadi, S., Musharavati, F. and Afrand, M., 2020. Development, evaluation, and multi-objective optimization of a multi-effect desalination unit integrated with a gas turbine plant. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 176, p.115414.
- 35. Veza, J., 1995. Mechanical vapour compression desalination plants—A case study. *Desalination*, 101(1), pp.1-10.
- 36. Darwish, M.A. and El-Dessouky, H., 1996. The heat recovery thermal vapour-compression desalting system: A comparison with other thermal desalination processes. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 16(6), pp.523-537.
- 37. Lukic, N., Diezel, L.L., Fröba, A.P. and Leipertz, A., 2010. Economical aspects of the improvement of a mechanical vapour compression desalination plant by dropwise condensation. *Desalination*, 264(1-2), pp.173-178.
- 38. Ettouney, H., El-Dessouky, H. and Al-Roumi, Y., 1999. Analysis of mechanical vapour compression desalination process. *International journal of energy research*, 23(5), pp.431-451.
- 39. Manikandan, S., Subbaiya, R., Saravanan, M., Ponraj, M., Selvam, M. and Pugazhendhi, A., 2022. A critical review of advanced nanotechnology and hybrid membrane based water recycling, reuse, and wastewater treatment processes. *Chemosphere*, 289, p.132867.
- 40. Fiorenza, G., Sharma, V.K. and Braccio, G., 2003. Techno-economic evaluation of a solar powered water desalination plant. *Energy conversion and management*, 44(14), pp.2217-2240.
- Ahmad, N.A., Goh, P.S., Yogarathinam, L.T., Zulhairun, A.K. and Ismail, A.F., 2020. Current advances in membrane technologies for produced water desalination. *Desalination*, 493, p.114643.
   Raza, A. Hassan, I.Z. Mahmood, A. Nahgan, W. and Ikram, M. 2022. Recent advances in membrane-enabled water.
- 42. Raza, A., Hassan, J.Z., Mahmood, A., Nabgan, W. and Ikram, M., 2022. Recent advances in membrane-enabled water desalination by 2D frameworks: Graphene and beyond. *Desalination*, 531, p.115684.
- 43. Khawaji, A.D., Kutubkhanah, I.K. and Wie, J.M., 2008. Advances in seawater desalination technologies. *Desalination*, 221(1-3), pp.47-69.
- 44. Ahmed, F.E., Hashaikeh, R. and Hilal, N., 2019. Solar powered desalination–Technology, energy and future outlook. *Desalination*, 453, pp.54-76.
- 45. Ahmad, N.A., Goh, P.S., Yogarathinam, L.T., Zulhairun, A.K. and Ismail, A.F., 2020. Current advances in membrane technologies for produced water desalination. *Desalination*, 493, p.114643.
- 46. Duranceau, S.J., 2009. Desalination post-treatment considerations. Florida Water Resources Journal, pp.4-18.
- 47. Poirier, K., Lotfi, M., Garg, K., Patchigolla, K., Anthony, E.J., Faisal, N.H., Mulgundmath, V., Sahith, J.K., Jadhawar, P., Koh, L. and Morosuk, T., 2023. A comprehensive review of pre-and post-treatment approaches to achieve sustainable desalination for different water streams. *Desalination*, p.116944.
- 48. Kavitha, J., Rajalakshmi, M., Phani, A.R. and Padaki, M., 2019. Pretreatment processes for seawater reverse osmosis desalination systems—A review. Journal of Water Process Engineering, 32, p.100926.
- Poirier, K., Lotfi, M., Garg, K., Patchigolla, K., Anthony, E.J., Faisal, N.H., Mulgundmath, V., Sahith, J.K., Jadhawar, P., Koh, L. and Morosuk, T., 2023. A comprehensive review of pre-and post-treatment approaches to achieve sustainable desalination for different water streams. Desalination, p.116944.

- 50. Duranceau, S.J., 2009. Desalination post-treatment considerations. Florida Water Resources Journal, pp.4-18.
- 51. Lee, S.W., Sarp, S., Jeon, D.J. and Kim, J.H., 2015. Smart water grid: the future water management platform. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, 55(2), pp.339-346.
- 52. Alshehri, M., Bhardwaj, A., Kumar, M., Mishra, S. and Gyani, J., 2021. Cloud and IoT based smart architecture for desalination water treatment. *Environmental research*, 195, p.110812.
- 53. Dogo, E.M., Salami, A.F., Nwulu, N.I. and Aigbavboa, C.O., 2019. Blockchain and internet of things-based technologies for intelligent water management system. *Artificial intelligence in IoT*, pp.129-150.
- Ahlawat, A., Dhiman, T.K. and Solanki, D.P.R., 2021. Photocatalytic Degradation of Gentamicin Using Tio2 Nanoparticle Driven by Uv Light Irradiation. Available at SSRN 4347169.
- 55. Ahlawat, A., Dhiman, T.K., Solanki, P.R. and Rana, P.S., 2022. Enhanced photocatalytic degradation of p-nitrophenol and phenol red through synergistic effects of a CeO2-TiO2 nanocomposite. Catalysis Research, 2(4), pp.1-13.
- 56. Dhiman, T.K., Ahlawat, A. and Solanki, P.R., 2021. ZnOnps based photocatalytic reactor for degradation of multiple organic pollutants driven by solar light-based UV irradiation. SPAST Abstracts, 1(01).
- 57. Singh, A.K., Ahlawat, A., Dhiman, T.K., Lakshmi, G.B.V.S. and Solanki, P.R., 2021. Degradation of methyl parathion using manganese oxide (MnO2) nanoparticles through photocatalysis. SPAST Abstracts, 1(01).
- 58. AHLAWAT, A., DHIMAN, T.K., Rana, P.S. and Solanki, P.R., 2021. CeO2/TiO2 based nano composite for photocatalytic degradation of Azo-dyes: Nitrophenol and Phenol red. SPAST Abstracts, 1(01).
- Kujur, V.S. and Singh, S., 2020. Structural, magnetic, optical and photocatalytic properties of GaFeO3 nanoparticles synthesized via non-aqueous solvent-based sol-gel route. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Electronics, 31(20), pp.17633-17646.
- 60. Ahlawat, A., Dhiman, T.K., Solanki, P.R. and Rana, P.S., 2023. Facile synthesis of carbon dots via pyrolysis and their application in photocatalytic degradation of rhodamine B (RhB). Environmental Science and Pollution Research, pp. 1-8.
- Kujur, V.S., Gaur, R., Gupta, V. and Singh, S., 2022. Significantly enhanced UV-light-driven photocatalytic performance of ferroelectric (K0. 5Na0. 5) NbO3: Effect of corona-poling and particle size. Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids, 167, p.110751.